# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 5/13/2019 9:41 AM

97194-3

Nos. 35767-8 35890-9

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re: the Arbitration of

BARNES, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

### MAINLINE ROCK & BALLAST, INC.,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW OF BARNES, INC.

Robert H. Crick Jr., WSBA #26306 Robert Crick Law Firm, PLLC 421 West Riverside Ave. #507 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 838-7139

Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Aaron P. Orheim, WSBA #47670 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioner Barnes, Inc.

##

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Barnes, Inc. ("Barnes") seeks review of the Court of Appeals opinions set forth in Part B.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISIONS

The Court of Appeals issued published opinions in Cause Nos. 35767-8 and 35890-9 on April 16, 2019.<sup>1</sup>

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Under Washington's version of the Uniform Arbitration Act, RCW 7.04A, upon judicial review under RCW 7.04A.230, is a trial court foreclosed from considering the written document at issue in a contractual dispute or dissenting arbitrator's analysis in reviewing the arbitral award?
- 2. Should the award here have been vacated pursuant to RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d) where Barnes blasted millions of tons of rock, which it owned and for which it should have been paid, and the arbitration panel, ignoring the parties' controlling, integrated agreement, failed to quantify the rock Barnes blasted as it was charged to do in the parties' arbitration agreement?
- 3. Should the award have been vacated pursuant to RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d) because Barnes was the prevailing party under the parties' controlling agreement and was entitled to a fee award?
- 4. Should the award have been vacated under RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d) because the parties' controlling agreement expressly required a payment of a late fee, or interest, to Barnes, Mainline was late in paying, and the panel did not award the late fee as the agreement mandated?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Division III declined to consolidate the cases even though they arose out of the same trial court review of the same arbitration panel award. References to the clerk's papers and to the opinion in this petition refer to Cause No. 35767-8, unless otherwise indicated. The petitions for review are filed in both Court of Appeals Cause Numbers.

5. Is review of the companion case remanding to the trial court to consider Mainline's attorney fees as the prevailing party under RCW 7.04A.250(3) warranted where review and reversal of the first appeal necessitates reversal of the second?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division III's rendition of the facts here is inaccurate in many respects, requiring Barnes to provide this more accurate factual discussion.

Barnes is a drilling and blasting contractor with its principal place of business located in Idaho. CP 22. Mainline is a rock crushing and general contractor and developer with its principal place of business located in Washington. *Id.* In 2004, by a Letter of Understanding ("LOU"), Mainline retained Barnes to drill and blast solid rock at its new quarry site in Torrance County, New Mexico. CP 20.<sup>2</sup>

For this new operation, Barnes first performed the drilling and blasting to open the site, and helped to construct the access roads, so that Mainline could build a railroad siding and other necessary facilities to develop the site. CP 4. After the site development work was completed, Barnes drilled and blasted rock on site at the quarry; Mainline sorted, crushed, screened, loaded, and stockpiled the rock to the specifications of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The LOU did not contain an arbitration provision. CP 20.

railroad entities so that it would be sold and delivered to cars from the quarry's siding. Rock by-product of that effort meeting Mainline's specifications was sold either to the railroad at the quarry's siding or shipped for sale to others in Texas. *Id*.

The initial LOU between the two parties stipulated that a certain amount of rock blasted would be considered "reject" material, but would nonetheless be sold, because Mainline expected railroads to buy most of such "reject" material during the first year of operation. CP 20. The price of material blasted, whether for railroad sales, Texas sales, or any other sale by Mainline was then \$0.78 per ton, including anticipated "rejects" of approximately 10%. CP 20.<sup>3</sup>

At the time of the LOU, both parties intended that Barnes was to be paid for *all* of the rock blasted, including the so-called "reject" materials. CP 4, 20. Mainline specifically promised Barnes that all such "reject" materials would be sold to the railroad or other entities which were located in Texas, due to a shortage of crushed materials there. *Id.* There was no intention to have any substantial stockpiles on site. CP 5. Division III, nevertheless, insists upon referencing these materials as "waste materials,

<sup>3</sup> The LOU also provided that in the event "reject" materials proved to be more than 10% of the rock material blasted, the parties would renegotiate the price. CP 20.

generally not commercially sellable." Op. at 2. That characterization was wrong.<sup>4</sup>

Mainline, however, never delivered these stockpiled materials to Texas and instead stockpiled substantial amounts of rock on-site in New Mexico, all of which had been blasted by Barnes and crushed by Mainline. CP 5, 34. But Mainline did not compensate Barnes for this stockpiled material. *Id*.

Barnes continued to perform drilling and blasting work at the Torrance site until the parties executed a Master Blasting Agreement ("MBA") in June 2008. CP 22-32. The MBA was for a three-year term with periodic price adjustments, which also occurred several times. CP 22, 31-32, 78. It contained an integration clause providing that it "is intended by the parties to be the final, complete and exclusive statement of their agreement relating to the matters covered herein." CP 29. The LOU was not referenced or included in the MBA. The MBA provided that Barnes was subject to the terms of the MBA, and any subsequent work orders,

<sup>4</sup> The term "waste materials" exists nowhere in the MBA or subsequent work orders. Although not controlling for interpreting the written terms of the parties' fully executed contract, even the LOU stated that "most of the rejects" would be commercially sellable. CP 20.

only.<sup>5</sup> *Id.* Those work orders specifically provided that Barnes *owned* the by-product stockpiled on-site to be sold by Mainline at a later date. *See, e.g.*, CP 31. Mainline was required to keep track of the total tonnage of rock stockpiled, but failed to do so. CP 5, 41, 53.

On April 7, 2017, Mainline sold the assets of its Torrance operation, including all stockpiled material Barnes owned that had accumulated onsite over the years (including the so-called "reject materials), CP 6, to Vulcan Materials Corporation ("Vulcan"). CP 53. Mainline had three drone surveys performed to determine the amount of stockpiled inventory before the site was sold. CP 35, 41. Mainline advised Barnes that these surveys revealed 2.8 million tons of Barnes by-product, and it offered to pay Barnes \$2.8 million for them (at \$1 per ton). CP 34.

On May 17, 2017, notwithstanding its own prior calculation of 2.8 million tons, Mainline tendered its "final" payment of \$905,596 to Barnes, excluding millions of tons of rock owned by Barnes and stockpiled onsite that it suddenly claimed were unsellable "waste and reject materials" outside the scope of the parties' agreement.<sup>6</sup> CP 5, 53.

<sup>5</sup> The MBA and work orders issued under it could only be modified by a writing signed by all of the parties or their respective agents. CP 27. No such writing changing the status of the MBA as the controlling document was ever executed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The dissenting arbitrator correctly found that "it is clear the by-product in

Based on the MBA, Barnes asserted that Mainline owed it more for the stockpiled materials and demanded payment; Mainline refused to pay anything more and sought arbitration of the parties' dispute, CP 34-36. Specifically, the arbitrators were to quantify the tons of by-product for which Mainline owed Barnes. CP 35 ("Mainline will request that the arbitrator(s) determine the fair and equitable amount to be paid to Barnes is \$1.00/ton with the tonnage to be determined by the independent surveys of the stockpiles obtained by Mainline.") (emphasis added).

The three-person arbitration panel, by a vote of 2-1, awarded Barnes a total amount of \$354,839.50. It failed to make a finding on the quantity of stockpiled materials, the central issue in the dispute. CP 38-42. It also did not award attorney fees or interest on the award, even though Barnes was the prevailing party, as defined in the MBA. CP 38-42. The panel incorrectly based its award on the LOU instead of the terms of the MBA and work orders issued under it. CP 38-40. The dissenting panelist correctly concluded that only the MBA and its subsequent amendments were relevant and would have awarded \$3,499,670.25 to Barnes based on surveys showing that Mainline had stockpiled 2.5 million tons of materials

\_

stockpile that was measured and excluded by Mainline was to be sold at a later date."  $\,$  CP 42.

onsite but wrongfully excluded those materials from its payment to Barnes. CP 41-42.

Division III issued two published decisions in Mainline's favor arising out of the trial court's decision to confirm the arbitral award. CP 138-40. It affirmed the trial court's refusal to vacate the arbitration award in an opinion which conflicts with precedent from this Court and from other Courts of Appeal. *Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc. v. Barnes, Inc.*, 35767-8-III, 2019 WL 1612806 (2019). It also reversed the trial court's denial of fees, remanding to the trial court to reconsider fees under RCW 7.04A.250(3).

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED<sup>7</sup>

(1) <u>Division III's Interpretation of Judicial Review of Arbitral</u>
<u>Awards under RCW 7.04A Eviscerates Judicial Authority to</u>
<u>Correct Erroneous Arbitral Decisions Regarding Contractual</u>
<u>Disputes</u>

RCW 7.04A, Washington's version of the Uniform Arbitration Act, governs the arbitration process and enforcement of arbitration awards in the state of Washington. An arbitral award is subject to review and possible

Petition for Review - 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In addition to the more substantive errors in the two published opinions, Division III references its required treatment of unpublished authority subject to GR 14.1 in *Crosswhite v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 197 Wn. App. 539, 544, 389 P.3d 731, *review denied*, 188 Wn.2d 1009 (2017). Op. at 27. Division II has rejected that interpretation of GR 14.1, *Karanjah v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 199 Wn. App. 903, 913, 401 P.3d 381 (2017). This Court should resolve the conflict. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

vacation of the award based on the grounds set forth in RCW 7.04A.230.

See Appendix.<sup>8</sup>

Barnes moved to vacate the award pursuant to RCW 7.04A.230(1)(d), because the arbitrators exceeded their powers. *Federated Servs. Ins. Co. v. Pers. Representative of Estate of Norberg*, 101 Wn. App. 119, 123, 4 P.3d 844 (2000), *review denied*, 142 Wn.2d 1025 (2001). Under that provision, this Court has "repeatedly articulated a rule that explicitly includes facial errors of law as grounds for vacation." *Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc.*, 169 Wn.2d 231, 237, 236 P.3d 182, 184–85 (2010) (*quoting Davidson v. Hensen*, 135 Wn.2d 112, 118, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998)); *Boyd v. Davis*, 127 Wn.2d 256, 263, 897 P.2d 1239 (1995). Facial errors are those recognizable from the language of the award. *Cummings*, 163 Wn. App. at 389 (noting example of an award including punitive damages

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Cummings v. Budget Tank Removal & Envt'l Servs., LLC, 163 Wn. App. 379, 388, 260 P.3d 220, 226 (2011); Pegasus Const. Corp. v. Turner Const. Co., 84 Wn. App. 744, 747, 929 P.2d 1200 (1997). The burden of showing that such grounds exist is on the party seeking to vacate the award, here, Barnes. Pegasus, 84 Wn. App. at 747–48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Division III begins its opinion directly questioning this Court's holding in *Broom* that a "facial legal error constitutes an instance in which arbitrators exceeded their powers." 169 Wn.2d at 237 (quotation omitted); op. at 14. Division III cites with approval the concurrence in *Boyd*, a concurrence which this Court rejected for a second time in *Broom*, holding that "it is the *Boyd* majority that continues to guide us." *Id.* This shot across the bow serves no purpose but to undermine this Court's authority. Division III is bound by this Court's decisions and has no reason to *sua sponte* criticize this Court's analysis of a settled issue. And, by choosing to publish its decision, Division III only creates more ambiguity and uncertainty in the law for future litigants, which this Court should correct. Moreover, as discussed in this petition, this passage shows Division III's willingness to disregard controlling authority which should have led to reversal in this case.

although Washington law forecloses awards of such damages). Contrary to Division III's belief, op. at 18, this includes the arbitrator's reasoning. *Id*.<sup>10</sup>

Division III, however, chose to make a *precipitous* departure from this Court's precedents and those of other divisions of the Court of Appeals in concluding that under the "face of the award" analysis of *Boyd/Broom*, it could not consider the parties underlying contract, op. at 17 ("Because we review only the arbitration award, we may not examine contract language relevant to the dispute."), <sup>11</sup> or the dissenting arbitrator's reasoning. Op. at 20. This analysis is bad public policy, eviscerates judicial review of arbitrator facial errors, and conflicts with published precedent, thus meriting review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4).

In *Boyd*, this Court determined that when reviewing an arbitration award, a trial court may look to the parties' "contract in order to ascertain the law governing the disputed point." 127 Wn.2d at 260-61. This Court cited numerous cases where courts looked to contracts to ascertain the law

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Accord, Salewski v. Pilchuck Veterinary Hosp., 189 Wn. App. 898, 903-04, 359 P.3d 884 (2015), review denied, 185 Wn.2d 1006 (2016); see also, Tolson v. Allstate Ins. Co., 108 Wn. App. 495, 32 P.3d 289 (2001) (court could address ambiguity in award); Nguyen-Aluskar v. Chicago Title Ins. Co., 193 Wn. App. 1005, 2016 WL 1133877 (2016) (vacated arbitrator award where arbitrator awarded attorney fees as damages where parties' contract did not so provide).

That this analysis makes little sense is further evidenced by the fact that only the MBA contains an arbitration clause. CP 28. To know if this dispute was subject to arbitration at all, the MBA is relevant.

governing the dispute.<sup>12</sup> Likewise, in *Broom*, this Court looked to both the parties' arbitration agreement and to the parties' contract to determine whether the arbitration panel properly applied the statute of limitations. 169 Wn.2d at 240-46.

Looking at the underlying contract to determine whether there was a legal error on the face of the arbitration award is no different than a court looking at any other source of controlling the law to determine legal error, whether the authority is a statute, an administrative regulation, or a court opinion.<sup>13</sup> In a contract setting, there is no more fundamental law governing

<sup>12</sup> E.g., ML Park Place Corp. v. Hedreen, 71 Wn. App. 727, 738, 862 P.2d 602 (1993), review denied 124 Wn.2d 1005 (1994) (the court examined an arbitration clause); Marine Enters., Inc. v. Security Pac. Trading Corp., 50 Wn. App. 768, 775-76, 750 P.2d 1290 (1988) (the court scrutinized a contract clause regarding production); Kennewick Educ. Ass'n v. Kennewick Sch. Dist. No. 17, 35 Wn. App. 280, 282, 666 P.2d 928 (1983) (the court referred to a contract clause making the governing law that of Washington); Agnew v. Lacey Co-Ply, 33 Wn. App. 283, 288-89, 654 P.2d 712 (1982), review denied, 99 Wn.2d 1006 (1983) (the court looked to the contract's attorney fees clause); Moen v. State, 13 Wn. App. 142, 145, 533 P.2d 862, review denied, 85 Wn.2d 1018 (1975) (the court reviewed a contract clause granting the plaintiff extra construction costs)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> For example, in *Price v. Farmers Insurance Co. of Washington*, 133 Wn.2d 490, 497, 946 P.2d 388 (1997), this Court reviewed the face of the arbitration award, made assumptions about the nature of the proceedings (deciding that it was a controversy about the amount of UIM benefits and not a controversy about whether there was UIM coverage), and then looked at an external source of controlling law, the Court's own opinion in *Olympic Steamship*, to determine whether the arbitration award demonstrated facial legal error. If courts performing judicial review can perform this type of analysis to conclude that a party is *not* entitled to attorney fees or some other claimed benefit of the contract, it is only fair that courts should be able to perform the same analysis to determine whether a party *is* entitled to attorney fees or some other right under the contract. It would be error to ignore contract language, just as it would be error to ignore a controlling statute. If courts can consider case law and statutes not quoted on the face of the award, a court should be able to consider another source of law (i.e. the parties' contract) that is just as determinative of the law in a contract dispute.

the parties than their contractual agreement itself.<sup>14</sup> In a recent decision arising under the FAA, the Ninth Circuit held that an arbitrator exceeded his powers where the arbitrator's award was "irrational," by failing to draw its essence from the parties' contract. The award was subject to vacation where it ignored contract provisions to achieve a desired result. *Aspic Engineering & Constr. Co. v. ECC Centcom Constructors, LLC*, 913 F.3d 1162 (9th Cir. 2019). Plainly, the terms of the underlying contract were very much before the federal courts.

In addition to this conflict with published Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), the practical and public policy implications of Division III's analysis are breathtaking, making review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) appropriate. For example, if that court is correct, trial courts on judicial review could not consider the insurance policy in insurance arbitrations, the employment agreement or other employment-related documents in employment disputes, or even a lease in a landlord-tenant dispute, to name just a few. Division III's opinion would permit such serious legal errors by arbitrators to make arbitration more "attractive" for people seeking "a more expeditious and final

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See, e.g., Zuver v. Airtouch Commc'ns, Inc., 153 Wn.2d 293, 302, 103 P.3d 753 (2004) ("It is black letter law of contracts that the parties to a contract shall be bound by its terms"); Mike M. Johnson, Inc. v. Cty. of Spokane, 150 Wn.2d 375, 386–87, 78 P.3d 161, 167 (2003) ("[C]ontract requirements must be enforced absent either a waiver by the benefiting party or an agreement between the parties to modify the contract.").

alternative to litigation." Op. at 15. However, parties – especially the ones listed above who are often forced to sign mandatory arbitration agreements – do not realize that they are assuming the risk that an arbitration panel may wholly disregard the underlying contract when considering a contract dispute.

By providing for judicial review in RCW 7.04A, the Legislature intended to provide a corrective public mechanism in private arbitrations, a system that does not enjoy equivalent safeguards as are present in our public courts. Wash. Const. art. I, § 10. Division III's opinion undercuts the protections granted by the Legislature in RCW 7.04A. Further, the opinion also risks making arbitration *less attractive* to contracting parties. If parties know that they their contractual rights may be completely disregarded without any remedy, they will be less likely to find arbitration an appealing mechanism for resolving disputes, contrary to Division III's belief. These important issues of public policy warrant review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Barnes here merely asks that this Court adhere to its "face of the award" analysis and allow consideration of the language of the parties' contract to determine whether the arbitration award shows legal error on its face. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b).

- (2) <u>Division III's Opinion Conflicts with Published Authorities</u> <u>Regarding Facial Errors Appearing on Arbitration Awards</u>
  - (a) <u>Division III's Opinion Disregards Contract Law, the Controlling Agreement Between the Parties, and the Central Purpose of the Parties' Arbitration</u>

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