FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/19/2019 10:11 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97193-5 No. 97194-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BARNES, INC., Petitioner,

v.

MAINLINE ROCK & BALLAST, INC., Respondent,

On Appeal from:

Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 17-2-03345-1 Judge Tony Hazel

> Division III No. 35767-8 No. 35890-9

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOHN H. GUIN, WSBA No. 26794 LAW OFFICE OF JOHN H. GUIN, PLLC 601 W. 1st Ave., Suite 1400 Spokane, WA 99201 (509)570-7455 *john@guinlaw.com*

Attorney for Respondent Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Upon judicial review of an arbitration award under RCW 7.04A.230, whether a reviewing court is limited to examining the face of the arbitration award for an error of law and is precluded from wading into the merits of the dispute to find a potential error of law.

2. Whether the trial court and Court of Appeals properly declined to look behind the face of the arbitration award and to substitute their judgment as to admissibility of evidence under the context rule and as to the interpretation of contract terms.

3. Whether the trial court and Court of Appeals properly declined to look behind the face of the arbitration award and to substitute their judgment as to the prevailing party status of the disputants for purposes of awarding attorney's fees.

4. Whether the trial court and Court of Appeals properly declined to look behind the face of the arbitration award and to substitute their judgment as to whether the appropriate factual conditions existed for an award of prejudgment interest.

¹ References to the clerk's papers refer to Cause No. 35767-8, unless otherwise indicated. The answers to the petitions for review are filed in both Supreme Court Cause Numbers.

5. Whether review of the companion case regarding Mainline's request for attorney's fees under RCW 7.04A.250(3) is warranted.

D. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

In its petition, Barnes criticizes Division III for its rendition of the facts as being "inaccurate in many respects." Barnes ignores the fact that there is no record upon which Division III could rely to recite the facts because the evidence was presented in arbitration and no record was available to the Court of Appeals on review. *Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc. v. Barnes, Inc.*, ____ Wn.App. ___, 439 P.3d 662, 664 (2019). Barnes also ignores the fact that a court does not look at evidence behind an arbitration award when reviewing an award under RCW 7.04A.230. *Id.* As a result, Barnes' further rendition of "facts" in its petition is mostly unsupported, is self-serving, and is irrelevant to the issues on review.

For purposes of review, only a few key facts are relevant.

Mainline and Barnes are parties to a Master Blasting Agreement ("MBA"), in which Barnes agreed to provide drilling and blasting services for Mainline at certain quarry sites. CP 22-30. The MBA outlines basic terms and conditions for the drilling and blasting services. (MBA, ¶ 1.a). CP 22. The MBA does not provide for specific terms and conditions for services performed at specific locations, as it is to be further specified through work orders. *Id*.

Respondent's Answer to Petition for Review - 2

Significantly, the MBA states that Barnes is only to be paid for "rock" materials blasted when Mainline is able to sell the materials:

9. Payment Terms: Unless otherwise noted herein, Mainline agrees to pay for all *materials sold and invoiced*, in full, within 20 days of the end of the month in which the *rock is sold and invoiced*....

(MBA, ¶ 9) (italics added). CP 23.

As of June 1, 2008, Mainline and Barnes entered into a Work Order Authorization for the Torrance, New Mexico site ("2008 Work Order"). CP 31. The 2008 Work Order established that Barnes would be paid for its drilling and blasting services based upon a unit price per ton of rock material *sold*. Both parties agreed that Barnes would only be paid based on the actual quantity of rock materials *measured and sold* by Mainline, rather than the amount blasted by Barnes. (2008 Work Order, ¶ 7). CP 31. This required that all of the commercial by-product materials had to be *sellable* material; Barnes would not be compensated for waste or reject materials.

The panel found this payment language to be critical in determining the parties' intent. If Barnes expected to be paid for all material blasted, Barnes could have negotiated payment based on total cubic yards blasted:

The majority concludes that the unit price negotiated between Mainline and Barnes in June 2008 was inclusive of anticipated reject material. . . . This was the purpose for having a unit price based on tons sold as opposed to a contract based on solid cubic yards blasted." CP 39 (emphasis added).

In 2016, the parties executed a subsequent and updated Work Order (the "2016 Work Order"). CP 44. The terms remained essentially the same between the 2008 Work Order and the 2016 Work Order, except that the 2016 Work Order created two different prices for materials.

Between 2004 and 2017, Barnes drilled and blasted for Mainline, and Mainline paid Barnes based on the blasted materials actually sold. CP 39. This course of performance was also a significant finding by the arbitration panel in reaching its conclusions about the parties' intent:

This conclusion is supported by the parties' course of performance and treatment of reject material from the time the quarry was established in 2004 up through the sale to Vulcan in April 2017.

CP 39.

The arbitration panel was tasked with determining the prices and quantities of all commercially sellable rock products at the site at the time of sale of the quarry in April 2017. The arbitration panel did exactly as tasked, determining the price and quantity for By-Product Inventory On-Hand; By-Product Inventory Loose under Jaw; and the value of in-progress drilling that had not been blasted (Drill Holes by Barnes). CP 38-39.

A majority of the panel determined that the \$7.5 million claimed by Barnes was excessive and that Barnes was only entitled to an additional payment of \$354,839.50. CP 38-40. The arbitration panel also concluded that neither party was deemed to have substantially prevailed for purposes of awarding attorney's fees. CP 39. The panel also chose not to award Barnes any late fee or interest on the disputed payment amount. CP 40.

The trial court denied Barnes' motion to vacate the arbitration award. CP 114-116. Mainline then filed a motion for an award of attorney's fees pursuant to RCW 7.04A.250(3), which the trial court denied. CP 151-154. Barnes appealed the denial of its motion to vacate, and Mainline appealed the denial of its motion for attorney's fees. CP 136-141, 151-154.

In Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc. v. Barnes, Inc., ____Wn.App. ____, 439 P.3d 662 (2019) (hereinafter Mainline I), Division III of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's denial of Barnes' motion to vacate the arbitration award. On the same day, in Mainline Rock & Ballast, Inc. v. Barnes, Inc., ____Wn.App. ____, 439 P.3d 676 (2019) (hereinafter Mainline II), Division III reversed the trial court's denial of Mainline's request for attorney's fees and remanded the issue back for further proceedings.

E. <u>ARGUMENT – WHY REVIEW IS UNNECESSARY</u>

(1) <u>Division III's Scope of Judicial Review of Arbitration</u> <u>Awards Is Consistent with Existing Precedent</u>.

Barnes characterizes Division III's opinion in *Mainline I* as a precipitous departure from this Court's precedent. This is simply not the

case. Barnes criticizes Division III for declining to wade into the merits of the dispute. Barnes further criticizes Division III for declining to consider evidence beyond the face of the arbitration award. Because the Court of Appeals adhered to the established standards for judicial review, Barnes' petition should be denied.²

Judicial review of an arbitration award is limited to statutory grounds. *Barnett v. Hicks*, 119 Wn.2d 151, 153-54, 829 P.2d 1087 (1992). Courts will only review an arbitration decision "in very limited circumstances, such as when an arbitrator has exceeded his or her legal authority." *Kitsap Cty. Deputy Sheriff's Guild v. Kitsap Cty.*, 167 Wn.2d 428, 434, 219 P.3d 675 (2009). Arbitrators are deemed to have exceeded their authority by a "mistaken application of the law" or when the face of the arbitration award exhibits an "erroneous rule of law". *Boyd v. Davis*, 127 Wn.2d 256, 263, 897 P.2d 1239 (1995). A reviewing court will not review the merits of the decision of the arbitrators; rather, a reviewing court's action is "strictly limited to the statutory bases for confirmation, vacation, modification or correction." *Barnett*, 119 Wn.2d at 156. The

 $^{^2}$ In *dicta*, Division III questioned whether the facial legal error standard is a valid basis for review under RCW 7.04A.230 because the language does not appear in the statute. However, the Court of Appeals then proceeded to "follow Washington Supreme Court precedent" to decide the appeal in this case, including an analysis of whether the award contained a "legal error." *Mainline I*, 439 P.3d at 670.

court is not to consider the evidence that was before the arbitrator. *Davidson v. Hensen*, 135 Wn.2d 112, 119, 954 P.2d 1327 (1998). "[T]he facial legal error standard is a very narrow ground for vacating an arbitral award . . . [C]ourts may not search the arbitral proceedings for *any* legal error; courts do not look to the merits of the case, and they do not reexamine evidence." *Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc.*, 169 Wn.2d 231, 239, 236 P.3d 182 (2010) (emphasis in original).

To support its petition, Barnes argues that Division III incorrectly held that it could not consider the underlying contract when reviewing the award for facial legal error. Barnes argues that this Court specifically authorized such reviews in its decisions in *Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc.* and *Boyd v. Davis, supra*. However, Barnes' argument ignores the fact that the contract reviews in *Broom v. Morgan Stanley* and *Boyd v. Davis* were limited to determining issues of applicable law and not for the purpose of wading into the merits of the dispute. Division III correctly noted this distinction in its analysis. *Mainline I*, 439 P.3d at 671.

In *Broom*, the Court examined the agreement between the parties for the sole purpose of determining if there was any agreement on governing law. *Broom*, 169 Wn.2d at 239-240. Finding no agreement, the Court proceeded to review the award for legal errors in the context of Washington's statutes of limitations, noting that the parties could have contractually modified the applicable law had they chosen to do so. *Id.* at 240-245. The Court did not engage in any evaluation of the merits of any contract issues or disputes.

In *Boyd*, the Court identified a number of Court of Appeals cases where underlying contracts were reviewed in the context of arbitration awards, but the Court specifically noted that those reviews were for the limited purpose of ascertaining "the law governing the disputed point." *Boyd*, 127 Wn.2d at 260. The Court then held that any analysis of the contract for the purpose of discerning the parties' intent constitutes an act of contract interpretation, which in turn, is "tantamount to trying the case de novo." *Id.* at 261. The Court then held that any such contract analysis involving the parties' intent is outside the scope of judicial review. *Id.* at 261-62.

In order for Barnes to obtain the relief it seeks on appeal, this Court would necessarily have to engage in contract interpretation to discern the parties' intent with respect to the terms and conditions of payment in the MBA and Work Orders. This request amounts to a trial de novo, except that this Court does not have the benefit of any record of the testimony and exhibits presented to and considered by the arbitration panel. In addition to lacking the necessary record to conduct a de novo review, such a request completely undermines the efficiency and finality of arbitration that Mainline bargained for when it entered into the MBA with Barnes.

Barnes' citation to the federal decision of *Aspic Engineering and Construction Company v. ECC Centcom Constructors, LLC*, 913 F.3d 1162 (9th Cir. 2019) does not support review in any respect. First, it is an interpretation of the judicial standard of review under the Federal Arbitration Act, not the Washington Arbitration Act. *Aspic Engineering*, 913 F.3d at 1165-66. Second, it is not a case involving the interpretation of disputed contract terms. Instead, it is a case where the arbitrator admittedly chose to ignore express contract language because he felt it would be unjust to hold one party to it its terms, even though the prevailing party never argued that the terms should not apply. *Id.* at 1168.³

Barnes also argues that Division III erred by failing to consider the dissenting arbitrator's opinion in its review of the award. While Division III appropriately noted the risks of relying on a dissenting opinion that may misstate or misconstrue the majority's analysis or findings (*Mainline I*, 439 P.3d at 672), ultimately it makes no difference. The reason is that Division III stated that "even if we consider the arbitration panel dissent's writing,

³ The Ninth Circuit noted that if the arbitrator's decision was based on evidence that the parties modified the contract by conduct or had competing interpretations, the court would not have a basis to vacate the award. *Aspic Engineering*, 913 F.3d at 1167-68.

our conclusion would not change." *Id.* at 672. Division III proceeded to explain why the arbitration panel could conceivably rely on evidence outside the terms of the written contract, particularly because the MBA "in fact does not include language that resolves the dispute" or "contains an ambiguity that cannot be resolved by other language" in the MBA. *Id.*⁴

Contrary to Barnes' arguments, Division III's decision maintains the strong public policies in favor of arbitration, rather than creating a risk of making arbitration less attractive. As noted by the Court of Appeals, "Arbitration seeks to avoid the formalities, delay, expense, and vexation of litigation in court." *Mainline I*, 439 P.3d at 670. Arbitration is attractive as an alternative to litigation specifically because of its finality. *Id.* If reviewing courts are allowed to look behind the award and examine every issue of contract interpretation and every decision regarding admissibility of evidence, parties lose all efficiency and finality, which are the primary benefits of arbitration.⁵

⁴ The Court of Appeals astutely noted that the dissenting arbitrator and Barnes both rely on extrinsic evidence to support their interpretations of the agreement, completely undermining Barnes' argument for vacating the award. *Mainline I*, 439 P.3d at 672.

⁵ Before the post-arbitration proceedings, this case was a model for efficiency. Mainline issued its initial notice of intent to arbitrate on February 3, 2017 and the arbitration award was issued on May 31, 2017, a period of less than 4 months.

(2) <u>Division III's Opinion Properly Rejects Barnes' Request to</u> Wade into Issues of Admissibility of Evidence and the Reasonableness of Contract Interpretation.

Barnes argues that the arbitration panel misapplied established precedent on contract law and that such error exists on the face of the award. However, the fact that the arbitration panel references extrinsic evidence in the arbitration award does not establish the existence of a clear error of law on the face of the award.

Washington law does not preclude a trier of fact from considering the context in which an agreement is formed, as Washington follows the "context rule" in the interpretation of contracts. *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 678–79, 801 P.2d 222 (1990). The context rule allows a fact finder to determine the intent of the parties by:

"... viewing the contract as a whole, the subject matter and objective of the contract, all the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, the subsequent acts and conduct of the parties to the contract, and the reasonableness of respective interpretations advocated by the parties."

Berg, 115 Wn.2d at 667 (quoting *Stender v. Twin City Foods, Inc.*, 82 Wn.2d 250, 254, 510 P.2d 221 (1973)). In *Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005), the Washington Supreme Court clarified the purposes for which extrinsic evidence could be used under the context rule, but it did not restrict the use of extrinsic evidence for the purpose of determining the meaning of specific words and

terms used in a written contract or to assist the trier of fact in understanding the reasonableness of respective interpretations advocated by the parties. *See Hearst Communications, Inc. v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503, 115 P.3d 262 (2005).

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